THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 01 2015

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001092

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

NORMAN QUINTON HUNT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas J. Quinn  
109 Laurens Road  
Building 4, Suite D  
Greenville, South Carolina 29607  
(864)232-9590  
Attorney for Appellant

Mark R. Farthing  
Assistant Attorney General  
Office of the Attorney General  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
Attorney for Respondent

Alan Wilson  
Attorney General  
Office of the Attorney General  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THE TESTIMONY OF TELENA BURROW WAS ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 404(B) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE AND RULE 403?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Norman Quinton Hunt was arrested on May 21, 2012 in Greenville County, South Carolina and charged with Criminal Sexual Conduct with a minor, victim under the age of 11 years first degree, Lewd Act upon a Child and other charges not relevant to this appeal.

Mr. Hunt was subsequently indicted by the Grand Jury of Greenville County for Criminal Sexual Conduct first degree – 2012GS2306500, Lewd Act upon a Child – 2012GS2306502 based upon warrants from May of 2012 and Criminal Sexual Conduct with a minor, victim under the age of 11 years, first degree – 2014GS2300008A and Criminal Sexual Conduct with a minor, victim 11 to 14 years of age, second degree – 2014GS2300009A which were direct presentments.

He was convicted of all charges and sentenced to life on Criminal Sexual Conduct first degree, thirty years on Criminal Sexual Conduct first degree, fifteen years on Lewd Act upon a child, and twenty years on Criminal Sexual Conduct second degree.

This appeal of all the convictions was timely filed and served.

## ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE TESTIMONY OF TELENA BURROW WAS ADMISSIBLE UNDER RULE 404(B) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE AND RULE 403 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF EVIDENCE.

The State moved to have the jury hear the testimony of Telena Burrow, the victim from a previous conviction of Mr. Hunt's. On February 16, 1988 Mr. Hunt pled guilty to Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor. Ms. Burrow was the victim in that manner.

The State alleged evidence of the prior bad act was admissible under the common scheme or plan exception to the exclusion of prior bad act evidence under Rule 404(b), SCRE, and more probative than prejudicial under the Rule 403, SCRE, balancing test.

To admit evidence of prior bad acts, the circuit court must first determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant. *State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). If the circuit court finds the evidence is relevant, the court must then determine whether the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. *Id.* Rule 404(b) precludes evidence of a defendant's prior crimes or other bad acts to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged, except to establish (1) motive; (2) intent; (3) the absence of mistake or accident; (4) a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other; or (5) the identity of the perpetrator. See Rule 404(b), SCRE.

To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing. . . . When considering whether there is clear and convincing evidence of other bad acts, an appellate court is bound by the [circuit] court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.

*Clasby*, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 895 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). "If the [circuit court] concludes there is clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed the uncharged acts, he or she must determine whether the prior acts fall within the common scheme or plan exception." *Id.* at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 896.

"Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible to show a common scheme or plan when a 'close degree of similarity [exists] between the crime charged and the prior bad act.'" *State v. Taylor*, 399 S.C. 51, 59, 731 S.E.2d 596, 601 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *State v. Gaines*, 380 S.C. 23, 30, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008)). "When determining whether evidence is admissible as [a] common scheme or plan [under Rule 404(b)], the [circuit] court must analyze the similarities and dissimilarities between the crime charged and

the bad act evidence to determine whether there is a close degree of similarity." *Wallace*, 384 S.C. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 277-78. "A close degree of similarity exists when the "similarities outweigh the dissimilarities." *State v. Scott*, 405 S.C. 489, 500, 748 S.E.2d 236, 242 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Wallace*, 384 S.C. at 433, 683 S.E.2d at 278). When determining whether a close degree of similarity exists, the circuit court "should consider all relevant factors." *Taylor*, 399 S.C. at 59, 731 S.E.2d at 601. In *Wallace*, our supreme court listed several factors for the circuit court to consider when determining whether there is a close degree of similarity between the prior bad act and the charged crime in cases involving the sexual abuse of a minor: (1) the age of the victims when the abuse occurred; (2) the relationship between the victims and the perpetrator; (3) the location where the abuse occurred; (4) the use of coercion or threats; and (5) the manner of the occurrence, for example, the type of sexual battery. *State v. Wallace*, 384 S.C. at 433-34, 683 S.E.2d at 278.

It is impossible to know what specific facts Judge Cole considered and weighed in making his decision as his ruling (R. p. 223, l. 2 - p. 226, l.9), while it mentions the factors the court is to consider, does not make any specific factual findings concerning any of the factors set out in *Wallace* (*State v. Wallace*, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009)) or any other factors the court may have deemed relevant to its findings. There is only a recitation of the pertinent factors, a statement that the judge considered "... the record in that respect" (R. p. 224, l. 13) and his rulings on the objections pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, and Rule 403, SCRE.

Considering the factors set out in *Wallace* for the circuit court to consider based on the testimony of the alleged victim and Telena Burrows:

- (1) The alleged victim was aged 5 – 12 when the abuse is alleged to have occurred (R. p. 29, l. 10-13); Ms. Burrow was around 11 (R. p. 209, l. 19-23),
- (2) The alleged victim is the grand-daughter of Mr. Hunt, his son's daughter (R. p. 28, l. 20-24); Ms. Burrow is his daughter (R. p. 206, l. 17-20),
- (3) The locations of the abuse alleged by the alleged victim were the house (R. p. 29, l. 15), his work (R. p. 39, l. 4-6), the garage at his home (R. p. 58, l. 22-24) and in his vehicles (R. p. 41, l. 9-12); Ms. Burrows testified the locations were the house, work and a motel (R. p. 212, l. 7-10),
- (4) Neither the alleged victim nor Ms. Burrow testified to any coercion or threats,
- (5) The alleged victim testified that Mr. Hunt's actions included touching her on the outside of and under her clothes (R. p. 32, l. 2-8 and p. 38, l. 22 – p. 39, l. 3 ), oral sex (R. p. 32, l. 12), touching him (R. p. 34, l. 24 – 25) and making her watch porn videos (R. p. 58, l. 22); Ms. Burrows testified the alleged victim would touch her breasts and private area on the outside of and under her clothes (R. p. 210, l. 1-12), and have sexual intercourse with her (R. p. 213, l. 23-24).

Age -The listing above, while it points out some of the dissimilarities does not highlight all of them. For instance the ages of the two overlap by only a year and the abuse of the alleged victim began at a

much younger age. That may be misleading though because Ms. Burrow did not come into the alleged victim's life until the age of 9 (R. p. 208, l. 1-15) so he did not have the opportunity to abuse her until age 9. No abuse began, however, until she was 11 (R. p. 209, l. 4-5). According to the alleged victim the abuse began not the first weekend she visited but almost immediately after (R. p. 31, l. 16-23) and she went to his home almost every weekend (R. p. 30, l. 12-15).

So in considering the age of the victims not only are their ages dissimilar when the abuse occurred even considering Ms. Burrow was not introduced to Mr. Hunt at as early an age as the alleged victim, the abuse did not begin at the same pace for each with a long period without abuse while Ms. Burrow lived with Mr. Hunt and an alleged immediate start with the alleged victim even though she was only visiting on weekends.

Relationship – the alleged victim is Mr. Hunt's grand-daughter. Ms. Burrow is his daughter.

Location - Ms. Burrow testified abuse occurred at the house, work and a motel. She did not allege the abuse took place in the garage or in a car. She testified the work location was South Carolina Tractor and Equipment on Laurens Road on a weekend when there was no one around (R. p. 212, l. 11-18). While the transcript is unclear it appears the testimony may have been indicating any incident at his work occurred once.

The alleged victim did not testify to any abuse at a motel. Her testimony was Mr. Hunt worked at Van Lines and she would go to work with him and wait until everyone got off when the abuse would occur in his cubicle.

While at first glance saying each person testified about abuse taking place at his work sounds similar when the court considers that Ms. Burrow's recounting sounds like it may have been a limited occurrence but is certainly clear that anything that occurred at his work was done while there was no one around to see her or interact with her on a weekend yet the alleged victim spends many summer days visible to all other employees, available to speak and interact with them where they might have noticed any improprieties in the relationship, not hidden in anyway (R. p. 39, l. 11 - p. 40, l. 2) with the allegation being she was abused after hours in a cubicle even though others could easily have come back in the building and there was security on the premises (R. p. 80, l. 23 – p. 81, l. 22) the dissimilarity becomes evident as none of those factors existed in Ms. Burrow's testimony. So while 'at work' are the common words the situations described by them are dissimilar in many ways....different companies in different locations, number of times at each location, manner in which the child was hidden or shut off from others or not, and the likelihood of discovery immediately after hours at a business employing 50-100 people and security.

Ms. Burrow did not testify about any abuse occurring in the garage or any viewing of pornography. The alleged victim testified of watching pornographic movies and being abused in the garage (R. p. 58, l. 24-p. 59, l. 16).

Ms. Burrow did not testify about any abuse occurring in the car or truck. The alleged victim testified at length about abuse in the car or truck at several locations and while the vehicle was moving on various roads in Greenville County and Spartanburg County. While the vehicle was in motion the alleged victim

alleged abuse including oral sex (R. p. 42, l. 10-14). She alleged the vehicle was being driven on roads including Woodruff Road (R. p. 43, l. 22-24). While parked the alleged abuse took place in Greenville at two Wal-Marts (R. p. 44, l. 23-24 and R. p. 45, l. 2-3), Haywood mall (R. p. 45, l. 7-11) and an old garage near Bloom on Woodruff Road (R. p. 45, l. 12 – p. 46, l. 2). In Spartanburg County abuse is alleged to have occurred at Spartanburg Mall (R. p. 48, l. 3-7). These acts involving the car and truck were alleged to have been numerous and to have occurred in many locations. Ms. Burrow did not testify about any acts in a moving or parked vehicle.

While Ms. Burrow testified the locations were house, work and motel, the alleged victim never mentions a motel, describes a different scenario completely at a different workplace, and lists the garage and vehicles which Ms. Burrows does not.

Threats/coercion - There was no testimony of threats or coercion alleged by either witness. The solicitor argued that the absence of coercion or threats was a similarity, that the defendant's means of gaining acquiescence from both victims was force of his personality (R. p. 220, l. 6-12). Aside from the fact there was no testimony to establish what the 'force of his personality' is, his argument points out one of the slippery slopes of utilizing an analysis of similar/dissimilar. When the court sets out factors to consider and when those factors are not present a party argues that absence of what the court said to look for makes a similarity. So when the court says, as it has in analyzing cases of this sort, that the use of coercion or threats may be a factor that would highlight a close degree of similarity between the prior bad act and the charged crime when neither is present one party wants to argue that the absence of what the court said to consider becomes an element to consider and makes the testimony of the prior bad act more likely. Following that 'logic' if no similarities were found in the testimony the evidence should come in without question.

It cannot be a point of similarity that there were no threats or coercion used in either case. While that may not make the cases dissimilar it cannot be utilized to support admission of the testimony.

Manner of occurrence – Both the alleged victim and Ms. Burrow testified about inappropriate touching by Mr. Hunt. From there their descriptions are completely dissimilar. Previously mentioned is the difference in the start of the alleged abuse – the alleged victim's immediately, Ms. Burrow's not for a year or more.

Ms. Burrow testified that she was only at his work on the weekend when no one was around but the alleged victim was brought during the day when she could interact with the employees and security. Further Ms. Burrow testified that the abuse took place while Mr. Hunt's wife was out of the house at work (R. p. 211, l. 21-23). There is nothing in her testimony to indicate anyone was present during any abuse. The alleged victim testified that the abuse would happen while his wife was in the house (R. p. 31, l. 5-15) or would come home (R. p. 58, l. 10 – 19). She also testified that C.H. would be with them in the truck or car while abuse was occurring (R. p. 42, l. 15 – p. 43, l. 11) and was at home at least once when it occurred as he walked in on them (R. p. 56, l. 23 – p. 57, l. 10).

So the manner in which the abuse was hidden with Ms. Burrow, no one around or in the home or workplace, is missing completely with the alleged victim when the abuse is alleged to have occurred in

a vehicle with C.H. and in the home with Mr. Hunt's wife there or at a workplace where she knew the other people and security. The lack of secretive behavior on the part of Mr. Hunt rose to the level, according to the alleged victim, of having her perform oral sex on him in a moving vehicle with family in the car on the way to Dollywood (R. p. 49, l. 18 – p. 50, l. 6) and to having her straddle him when Mr. Hunt picked up the alleged victim and C.H. (R. p. 44, l. 7-13).

Ms. Burrow testified that Mr. Hunt abused her by touching and by forced intercourse (R. p. 209, l. 6-8). Ms. Burrow described that "...he did go all the way and it hurt, and I cried and I bled." (R. p. 214, l. 6-8). There was no testimony about touching Mr. Hunt's penis or oral sex.

The alleged victim testified that Mr. Hunt had her touch his penis (R. p. 34, l. 24-25 and p. 36, l. 14-18) and p. 40, l. 7-9), perform oral sex on him (R. p. 32, l. 12 and p. 41, l. 3-8 and p. 42, l. 10-14), and watch pornographic movies (R. p. 58, l. 22 – p. 59, l. 14). Ms. Burrow did not allege any of these acts.

The alleged victim alleged Mr. Hunt took photos of her vagina and breasts (R. p. 50, l. 21 – p. 51, l. 21) although no photos were introduced at trial. Ms. Burrow did not claim she was ever photographed.

The alleged victim alleged that Mr. Hunt did not have intercourse with her and that when he tried and it hurt her and she would cry he would stop (R. p. 37, l. 3-9), virtually the exact opposite of Ms. Burrow's testimony that he did not stop no matter that it hurt and she cried and bled.

The dissimilarities in the factors outlined in Wallace (State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009)) outweigh the similarities and the testimony of Ms. Burrow should not have been allowed.

Prior to turning to the Rule 403, SCRE, analysis the court must undertake after finding evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b), SCRE, this court should consider that the second element of the foundation for evidence to be admissible under Rule 404(b) - that the State articulate the logical connection between the other act and one of the five purposes listed as exceptions to the rule that prior bad act evidence is inadmissible (State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 211, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) – does not exist here.

The State must explain how evidence of the other act will assist the jury in understanding some material issue in the case related to one or more of the Rule 404(b) exceptions. When the State adequately explains how the evidence of the other act logically connects to an issue of the case, it demonstrates how the jury can use the evidence without using it for the prohibited purpose of inferring guilt from the defendant's propensity to commit the crime. See State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 679 S.E.2d 172 (2009).

The exception under which the court allowed Ms. Burrows testimony is completely stated as a common scheme or plan embracing the commission of two or more crimes so related to each other that proof of one tends to establish the other. Past the similar/dissimilar analysis above these crimes are alleged to have occurred much more than a decade apart. The alleged victim was not born when the case

involving Ms. Burrow arose. The evidence introduced by the State did not tend to establish a common scheme or plan as it would be impossible to scheme or plan about a person not even in existence. And the idea that the scheme was to wait a decade and a half and then become involved in a crime with someone not yet born is ridiculous. The testimony was introduced solely to show propensity to act in conformity with, unfair prejudice that has traditionally not been allowed.

That consideration, whether the logical connection articulated by the State is sufficiently strong that the probative value found in the connection is not substantially outweighed by the tendency of the evidence to show propensity, or by some other form of unfair prejudice. *State v. Smith*, 391 S.C. 353, 705 S.E.2d 491 (Ct. App. 2011) is the crossover point to Rule 403, SCRE..

In this case the solicitor's argument was that since the prior conviction was introduced pursuant to the prosecution of indictment 2012GS2306500 alleging a violation of South Carolina Code section 16-3-655(A)(2) the factor of unfair prejudice was removed (R. p. 215, l. 17-25). There is no authority for that position and it flies in the face of the rules.

Rule 404(b), SCRE, would require as its first element that "If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing." *State v. Clasby*, 385 S.C. 148, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). The admission of the prior conviction satisfies the first element of Rule 404(b), SCRE, but not the second and does not relieve the court of conducting a Rule 403 analysis.

While the temporal remoteness between the two acts does not bar the admission of the evidence of the prior bad act (*State v. McCombs*, Op.No. 5265, Ct. App. Filed August 20, 2014), the non-existence of the alleged victim should. This is not an armed robber later robbing a store not in existence at the time of his first robbery as it is reasonable to project other retail establishments might exist or come into existence to be robbed. To project that a child, even more specifically, a granddaughter, a granddaughter that would be available to be abused, will come into existence in the future is not reasonably likely and needs to be included in the weighing of probative value.

The State was permitted to introduce Mr. Hunt's prior conviction and that had prejudicial effect but that was done under a statute setting out a prior conviction or registry on the sex offender registry as an element to be proven by the State. Generally no party is permitted to go behind the prior conviction and elicit testimony about the conviction which 'speaks for itself'. The court could have instructed the jury that the admission of the prior conviction was solely to establish an element of one of the indictments and was not to be used for any purpose other than that, specifically not to be used as substantive evidence of guilt on that or any other charge. The limit that could have been placed on the prejudice of the prior conviction was lost once the court allowed Ms. Burrow to testify.

To have a victim of a prior conviction testify was crushing to Mr. Hunt's defense. Without that testimony the case would have turned on the alleged victim's testimony of having been abused for years in some of the most highly traveled parts of Greenville County and some of the most visible places in that county and Spartanburg County with C.H. in the vehicle with no physical evidence of assault, no photographs of her, no pornography seized from Mr. Hunt and no witnesses other than C.H. who did not completely support her testimony. With it the State was able to argue "The third point of

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