ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001092

---

RECEIVED

JUN 17 2015

SC Court of Appeals  
Respondent

THE STATE,

vs.

NORMAN QUINTON HUNT,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III  
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325  
Greenville County Courthouse  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

similar to the charged offense to be admissible where the victims in all of the acts were approximately the same age, each of the victims was subjected to the same type of sexual abuse in the same locations, and Blanton took advantage of his relationship with the victims for sexual gratification in each of the acts). Furthermore, those similarities between the acts outweighed any dissimilarities, which established a clear and logical connection between the earlier acts and more recent crimes. See Wallace, 384 S.C. at 434, 683 S.E.2d at 278 (“In sum, there are similarities in the class of the victim, timing, place, and warning that outweigh any dissimilarity.”); cf. Scott, 405 S.C. at 501, 748 S.E.2d at 243 (finding prior bad act evidence to be admissible where some distinctions existed between the prior bad act testimony and the testimony of Scott’s most recent victims but the distinctions did not outweigh the significant similarities). As a result, Burrow’s testimony was properly admitted towards establishing the existence of Appellant’s common scheme or plan to sexually abused young female children who were biologically related to him, and the trial judge’s decision to admit that testimony did not constitute an abuse of discretion. See Wallace, 384 S.C. at 433-434, 683 S.E.2d at 278 (“When the similarities outweigh the dissimilarities, the bad act evidence is admissible under Rule 404(b). . . . A close degree of similarity establishes the required connection between the two acts and no further ‘connection’ must be shown for admissibility.”).

Moreover, the trial judge’s decision to admit the prior bad act evidence was not rendered erroneous due to the fact Appellant began abusing Burrow a number of years before he began abusing Victim in light of the fact temporal remoteness of prior bad act evidence does not automatically render that evidence inadmissible during trial. Blanton, 316 S.C. at 33, 446 S.E.2d at 440; see State v. Tutton, 354 S.C. 319, 332, n. 5, 580 S.E.2d 186, 193 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Remoteness in time, however, is not dispositive.”). In

Appellant's case, Appellant began abusing Burrow approximately nineteen to twenty years before he began sexually assaulting Victim. Although the gap between the prior sexual abuse and the abuse involving Victim was somewhat lengthy, the delay was explained by the fact Victim had not yet been born at the time Appellant was sexually abusing Victim coupled with the fact Appellant did not meet Victim until she was five years old. Therefore, the lapse in time between the prior abuse and the more recent abuse did **not** result from the abandonment of the common scheme or plan based on the testimony and evidence presented during trial and, instead, resulted from the fact Appellant could not resume his common scheme or plan until Victim had been born and was introduced into his life. See State v. McCombs, 410 S.C. 90, 101, 762 S.E.2d 744, 750 (Ct. App. 2014) ("The circuit court does not necessarily err when it permits testimony about a bad act occurring many years prior to the charged crime. In fact, evidence of prior bad acts that occurred many years before the charged crime is often admissible to prove a common scheme or plan." (citations omitted)); Scott, 405 S.C. at 504-505, 748 S.E.2d at 244-245 ("[E]vidence of bad acts occurring many years before the charged crime is often admissible to demonstrate a common scheme or plan. Thus, the trial court did not err in admitting the bad act evidence, simply because the evidence was purportedly too temporally remote." (citations omitted)). Accordingly, the remoteness of the prior bad act evidence related to Appellant's sexual abuse of his daughter did not render the evidence inadmissible or diminish the probative value of the evidence that stemmed from its numerous similarities to Appellant's more recent offenses involving his granddaughter. See Tutton, 354 S.C. at 330, 580 S.E.2d at 192 ("It goes without saying that the conduct need not be continuous to fall within the common scheme or plan exception."); see also Hubner, 384 S.C. at 437, 683 S.E.2d at 280 (reversing a decision in

which prior bad act evidence concerning incidents that occurred approximately fourteen to fifteen years before the charged offense was found to be inadmissible); State v. Hallman, 298 S.C. 172, 174, 379 S.E.2d 115, 116-117 (1989) (admitting evidence of prior bad acts occurring roughly seven years before the charged offense); Scott, 405 S.C. at 508, 748 S.E.2d at 247 (finding evidence of Scott's prior sexual abuse of earlier victims was admissible pursuant to the common scheme or plan exception despite the fact Scott's most recent victims had not been born at the time Scott sexually abused his earlier victims).

Finally, the trial judge properly concluded the probative value of Burrow's testimony was not substantially outweighed by a danger of unfair prejudice. Critically, in Appellant's case, the prior bad act evidence was extremely probative and significant due to the lack of conclusive physical evidence corroborating Victim's testimony. Due to the fact Victim delayed disclosing the sexual abuse coupled with the fact the sexual abuse occurred on a chronic basis, no conclusive physical evidence of the sexual abuse could be obtained.<sup>8</sup> For that reason, the testimony of Burrow was extremely probative and significant because it established the existence of a common scheme or plan on Appellant's part and constituted strong proof of the highly similar incidents involving Victim based on the similarities between the Appellant's prior abuse of Burrow and Appellant's subsequent abuse of Victim. Accordingly, the probative value of the prior bad act evidence was extremely high. Cf. State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 158-158, 682 S.E.2d 892, 898 (2009) ("Given there was no physical evidence to corroborate B.C.'s testimony regarding the indicted offense of CSC with a minor, first degree and lewd act

---

<sup>8</sup> During trial, Dr. Croswell explained most medical examinations in cases involving chronic sexual abuse do not result in the discovery of any specific evidence establishing sexual abuse occurred because many types of abuse do not typically cause injuries while injuries to the genital area typically heal very rapidly. (R. pp. 132-135).

upon a child, we find her testimony of Clasby's sustained illicit conduct was extremely probative to establish the charge criminal sexual conduct underlying the offense of lewd act upon a child." In light of the high probative value of the evidence, the potential for undue prejudice that could have resulted from the admission of the evidence was not sufficient to substantially outweigh the evidence's probative value. See Rule 403, SCRE ("Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is **substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice**, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." (emphasis added)); see also State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (" 'Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.' " (citations omitted)). Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in weighing the probative value of the prior bad act evidence against its potential for undue prejudice. See Hamilton, 344 S.C. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 594 ("If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.").

In Appellant's case, the prior bad act evidence introduced during trial through the testimony of Appellant's biological daughter was strikingly similar to the testimony of Victim, who was Appellant's biological granddaughter, in regard to the Appellant's biological connection to the victims, the similar ages of the victims when the abuse occurred, the manner in which the abuse occurred, the nature of the abuse, the locations where the abuse occurred, and Appellant's provision of numerous gifts to the victims. See Wallace, 384 S.C. at 434, 683 S.E.2d at 278 ("Here, the similarities between the acts

include petitioner's relationship to the victims (his stepdaughters), abuse beginning at about the same age, abuse occurring in the family home when the mother was absent, and an admonishment not to tell because no one would believe it. In sum, there are similarities in the class of victim, timing, place, and warning that outweigh any dissimilarity.”); see also State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 30, 667 S.E.2d 728, 731 (2008) (“Where there is a close degree of similarity between the crime charged and the prior bad act, both this Court and the Court of Appeals have held prior bad acts are admissible to demonstrate a common scheme or plan.”). Therefore, like in Blanton, Hubner, Scott, and numerous other cases, the prior bad act evidence was relevant and admissible as proof of the existence of a common scheme or plan, and its high probative value substantially outweighed its potential for undue prejudice. For those reasons, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in admitting the testimony regarding Appellant’s prior bad acts. See State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”); see also Martucci, 380 S.C. at 253, 669 S.E.2d at 609 (“If there is any evidence to support the admission of bad act evidence, the trial judge’s ruling cannot be disturbed on appeal.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

**B. Harmlessness of Any Error in the Admission of the Prior Bad Act Evidence**

After an error is discovered, the appellate court must then determine whether the error was harmless. See State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) (“Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless.”). Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result.

State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error generally depends on the materiality of the error in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989).

In the case at bar, notwithstanding the admission of the testimony of Appellant’s daughter regarding Appellant’s highly similar prior acts of sexual abuse, Victim testified during trial about the sexual abuse she suffered at Appellant’s hands without contradiction or rebuttal, and her testimony in regard to the abuse was corroborated in a substantial and significant way through the testimony of Brother, who confirmed he caught Appellant kissing Victim while she was lying on top of Appellant in Appellant’s bed on one occasion and further noted he was regularly forced to lie in the back seat of Appellant’s truck while Appellant did something seemingly improper with Victim in the front seat. See State v. Miller, 266 S.C. 409, 413, 223 S.E.2d 774, 776 (1976) (“The positive, uncontradicted identification of appellants and their codefendant as the perpetrators of the crime charged and their apprehension a short time later in the identified getaway car, with the incriminating evidence found therein, so overwhelmingly establishes their guilt as to render any violation of Bruton ‘harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.’ ”); see also State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992) (recognizing an error in the admission of evidence can be rendered harmless when other direct or circumstantial evidence is presented that corroborates the evidence).

Additionally, numerous witnesses testified about Victim's consistent disclosures of the sexual abuse after it was finally revealed, and Dr. Crosswell noted she discovered a moderate notch in Victim's hymen, which could have been caused by sexual abuse and was consistent with the information provided to her by Victim. Furthermore, Mother testified about how Appellant asked her to open bank accounts in Victim's name after Victim initially revealed the sexual abuse to her and how Appellant presumably deposited money into those accounts for several months after that, which was significant evidence of an effort on Appellant's part to influence Victim and her parents into not revealing the sexual abuse to the authorities. See State v. Marlowe, 156 S.C. 363, 366, 153 S.E. 340, 341 (1930) ("If a defendant seeks to bribe witnesses not to testify against him, evidence to that effect is always competent.").

Critically, based on the presentation of the other evidence of guilt independent of Appellant's daughter's testimony, Appellant's guilt was overwhelmingly established, and any error in the admission of Appellant's daughter's testimony could not reasonably have had any impact on the verdict.<sup>9</sup> See State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant's guilt); Sherard, 303 S.C. at 176, 399 S.E.2d at

---

<sup>9</sup> Moreover, despite Appellant's contentions to the contrary, the potential for the admission of Burrow's testimony to have resulted in undue prejudice to Appellant was greatly reduced by the admission of the evidence establishing Appellant had previously been convicted of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, which was admitted without objection **and** without limitation. See generally State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 156, 526 S.E.2d 228, 231 (2000) (explaining a trial judge should "**on request**" instruct the jury on the limited purpose for which prior crime evidence can be considered when such evidence is admitted to prove an element of a crime (emphasis added)). Based on the admission of the evidence related to Appellant's prior conviction, the jury would have been aware of the fact Appellant had previously committed a sex offense involving a minor victim, which is the exact same fact Appellant sought to prevent the jury from learning by objecting to Burrow's testimony, **even if** the trial judge had not permitted Burrow to testify during the trial. Accordingly, because the jury learned of Appellant's prior sex offense through the admission of unobjected-to evidence independent of Burrow's testimony, the challenged testimony's potential for undue prejudice – along with its potential to impact the verdict – was substantially minimized in Appellant's case. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) ("It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.").

597 (“[An appellate court] will not set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”). Therefore, the trial judge’s decision to admit Appellant’s daughter’s testimony would not warrant a reversal of Appellant’s convictions even if that decision was an erroneous one. See State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 362, 737 S.E.2d 490, 501 (2013) (finding an error in the admission of improper testimony to be harmless where that error could not have reasonably affected the outcome of trial in light of the other evidence that was presented). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.